1999

Wesley John Harlan v. Bonnie Kathleen Harlan : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant Rules 3 and 4 of the UTAH RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE and §78-2a-3(2)(h) UTAH CODE ANN. (1998).

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARDS OF REVIEW

1. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying Wife's *pro se* Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order?

This Court will reverse a trial court's ruling on a motion under Rule 60(b) where there has been an abuse of discretion. Udy v. Udy, 893 P.2d 1097, 1099 (Utah App. 1995) (citing Larsen

v. Collina, 684 P.2d 52, 54 (Utah 1984). "A liberal standard for application of Rule 60(b) in divorce cases is justified by the doctrine of continuing jurisdiction that a divorce court has over its decrees. Clearly, a court should modify a prior decree when the interest of equity and fair dealing with the court and the opposing party so require." Boyce v. Boyce, 609 P.2d 928, 931 (Utah 1980). In addition, "[d]iscretion must be exercised in furtherance of justice and the court will incline toward granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the party may have a hearing." Id. (quoting Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741, 742 (Utah 1953)).

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

Wife submits that there are no statutory nor constitutional provisions completely determinative of the issues presented herein. However Rule 60 of the UTAH RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE is relevant to this appeal and is attached hereto as Addendum A.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE AND COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

This is an appeal from a final order of the Eighth Judicial District Court, in and for Duchesne County, State of Utah, the Honorable John R. Anderson presiding.

The trial court entered Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Decree of Divorce on August 19, 1998. (R. 153 and 160, Addendum B and C). Wife, *pro se*, filed a Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order on November 10, 1998. (R. 213, Addendum D). The trial court denied Wife's motion on December 28, 1998. (R. 228, Addendum E). Wife filed her Notice of Appeal of this order on January 4, 1999. (R. 240).

B. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties to this action were husband and wife, having been married on September 11, 1962. (R. 153). During the marriage, the parties purchased a mobile home on an 80-acre farm on the Myton Bench. (R. 112). At the time of the divorce, the home and real property was owned free and clear of all liens. (R. 112). The parties stipulated to a fair market value of this home of \$157,000. (R. 112).

The parties also accrued numerous pieces of farm equipment, a piano, a camp trailer, as well as an interest in a time-shared condo in Park City. (R. 111). The parties also accrued interests in their respective IRA accounts. Specifically, the Wife had accrued \$524.00, and the Husband had accrued \$14,700.00. (R. 111). In addition, during the

marriage, the parties accrued an interest in a limited liability company known as John Harlan Excavation. (R. 111). Husband filed a complaint for divorce on August 19, 1997. (R. 6). This matter went to trial on May 28, 1998, and the trial court took the matter under advisement. (R. 154). The lower court entered a ruling on June 16, 1998. (R. 112, Addendum F). With regard to the value of the limited liability company, the trial court stated that:

The Court, based upon a totality of the evidence, from an examination of the exhibits adduced and from the record determines that the value of the business is \$195,735 and makes the following findings to support that conclusion:

1. The equipment as per the appraisal which was set forth in Petitioner's Exhibit Two (2) showed a reasonable value of the equipment and machinery at \$234,100. The parties stipulated to the introduction of the exhibit and it appears to be reasonable. There is testimony that a welder that was part of the equipment had a value of \$2,200 which was not included in that appraisal. The Court has also, from reviewing the photographs of the equipment and having an analysis of the financial statement which is tendered and received into evidence as Exhibit Six (6), has determined there should be additional values for supplies and parts of \$2,000 and additional tools and inventory of gravel in the amount of \$2,000. Added to that should be accounts receivable of \$9,000 and the cash at the time of trial of \$3,000. Deduct liens payable to Zion's First National Bank of \$55,565 without the addition of any value that would be attached to the business for good will as per Sorensen v. Sorensen, 839 P.2d 774 (Utah 1992), the company has a value of \$195,735 and the Petitioner has in his possession a camp trailer

with a value of \$2,000. **Assets were reviewed in order to provide a fairly equal distribution as follows:**

2. The equipment, machinery, tools, inventory and assets of the business, including the camp trailer with a value of \$2,000, will be retained by the Petitioner; having a total value of \$197,735.

ASSET EQUALIZATION

3. The valuation of the real estate, farm equipment, four-wheel drive all-terrain vehicle, piano and time share, total \$176,000, will be awarded to the Respondent.

4. The net difference in the IRA Accounts, \$14,176 plus \$5,000 which is the value of a reasonable automobile, are awarded to the Respondent in addition. (R. 110-111) (emphasis added).

Therefore, according to the lower court's Ruling, the lower court awarded Husband \$195,735 of the marital estate and Wife \$195,176¹, very close to an equal distribution. The lower court directed Mr. Hunt, counsel for Wife, to prepare the appropriate findings and decree based on this ruling. (R. 107).

Wife submitted the requested documents on July 29, 1998. (R. 117). The proposed findings and decree, in relevant part awarded Husband \$197,735 (in the form of the business and camp trailer) and the Wife the marital residence and property (\$176,000) and the sum of \$19,176 for

¹ \$176,000 + \$14,176 + \$5,000 = \$195,176

the differential in Husband's IRA account and the \$5,000 for a reasonable automobile, and her premarital property. (R. 180-181). This is the exact division set forth in the lower court's Ruling.

On July 31, 1998, Husband filed his objections to the proposed findings and decree because he did not agree with the trial court's valuation of the business and because he would rather do a tax free IRA transfer, rather than pay the IRA differential in cash. (R. 120-122). On August 18, 1998, Husband requested a ruling from the trial court on his objections to Wife's proposed findings and decree. (R. 143). One day later, on August 19, 1998, the court entered the Findings of fact and Conclusions of Law and Decree of Divorce which were submitted by Husband on or about July 28, 1998. (R. 166). At this time, the parties had also both moved for an order to show cause in which the parties raised issues concerning medical costs, timeshare maintenance costs, the payment of the automobile costs and attorney's fees award made to the Wife in the decree, and various other claims. (R. 178). The parties reached a stipulation which was entered on the record and included in the Order resolving these issues. (R. 178, Addendum G). Neither

party raised issues concerning the changes from the ruling to the findings and decree submitted by the Husband in the respective order to show causes and these issues were neither discussed nor stipulated to at any time. (R. 178, a transcript of this hearing can be found at R. 320 as well, Minute Entry, R. 175).

On October 16, 1998, counsel for Wife entered his withdrawal. (R. 181). Wife, *pro se*, filed a "Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order" on November 10, 1998. (R. 213). In this motion, Wife clearly pointed out the changes from what the trial court stated in its ruling to what Husband submitted as his proposed findings and decree which the court eventually signed. (R. 212). Wife sought relief from the "inconsistent declarations of judgment" with regards to the valuation of the business and the payment of the \$19,176 for the difference in the IRAs and for the purchase of a reasonable car. (R. 212).

Husband responded to this motion with his "Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Relief from Judgment or Order" on November 27, 1998. (R. 220, Addendum H). In this memorandum, Husband argued that Wife's motion should be denied because: (1) she did not set forth specific grounds

for Rule 60 relief; (2) the issues raised in the motion were already considered by the trial court; (3) the parties entered a stipulation resolving the issues raised at the Order to Show Cause hearing; and (4) the trial court's decision was accurate and should not be set aside. (R. 216 - 220). Wife then filed a reply, *pro se*, to this memorandum on December 3, 1998. (R. 226, Addendum I).

The trial court entered a Ruling on Wife's Rule 60 motion on December 10, 1998. (R. 228, Addendum J). The trial court denied the motion "for the reasons set forth in Petitioner's Memorandum in Opposition," and specifically because the "Court finds no compelling reason to set aside the decree." (R. 228). This Order was entered on December 28, 1998. (R. 234).

Wife filed her Notice of Appeal of this Order on January 4, 1999. (R. 240).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court abused its discretion by denying Wife's *pro se* motion for relief from judgment or order. The discrepancies from the trial court's order to the decree entered by the court can only be explained by mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect. The Ruling

from the trial court was stated in clear language and supported by the court's findings. Husband did not file any objection to this Ruling. A hearing was not held to determine why the trial court should modify its Ruling. However, while Wife submitted findings and a decree, pursuant to the court's direction, which mirrored the court's Ruling, the court signed the findings and decree submitted by Husband, even though Husband's findings and decree modified the trial court's Ruling to the substantial prejudice of Wife.

Rule 60(b) allows for a judgment or decree to be set aside for the aforementioned reasons, or where the interests of equity, fairness and justice so require. The trial court should have granted Wife's motion for relief from judgment or granted a hearing to determine the issues raised therein.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN DENYING WIFE'S PRO SE MOTION FOR RELIEF FROM JUDGMENT OR ORDER.

"[T]he court may in the furtherance of justice relieve a party or his legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons . . . mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect . . . or for any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the

judgment." UTAH R. CIV. PRO. 60(b). The trial court is granted broad discretion on ruling on a motion for relief from judgment under Rule 60(b). See Birch v. Birch, 771 P.2d 1114 (Utah App. 1989); Katz v. Pierce, 732 P.2d 92 (Utah 1986); Russell v. Martell, 681 P.2d 1193, 1194 (Utah 1984). However, the trial court, in exercising its discretion, must consider all of the relevant factors in granting or denying a motion under Rule 60(b).

The allowance of a vacation of judgment is a creature of equity designed to relieve against harshness of enforcing a judgment, which may occur through procedural difficulties, the wrongs of the opposing party, or misfortunes which prevent the presentation of a claim or defense. Rule 60(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure outlines the situations wherein a party may be relieved from a final judgment, among which is mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect claimed here by appellant. Equity considers factors which may be irrelevant in actions at law, such as unfairness of a party's conduct, his delay in bringing or continuing the action, the hardship in granting or denying relief. Warren v. Dixon Ranch Co., 260 P.2d 741, 742 (Utah 1953).

The trial court is granted a very liberal standard for granting relief under Rule 60(b) in regards to divorce cases. See Boyce v. Boyce, 609 P.2d 928 (Utah 1980). "A liberal standard for application of Rule 60(b) in divorce cases is justified by the doctrine of continuing jurisdiction that a divorce court has over its decrees. Clearly, a court should modify a prior decree when the interest of equity and fair dealing with the court and the opposing party so require." Id.

at 931. In addition, "[d]iscretion must be exercised in furtherance of justice and the court will incline toward granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the party may have a hearing." Id. (quoting Warren, 260 P.2d at 743 (citation omitted)).

In Boyce, the wife moved to set aside a decree of divorce based on the allegations that she had obtained material and relevant information regarding the property in the marital estate, husband was guilty of fraud, misrepresentation or misconduct during the divorce proceeding, and that the stipulation was entered under duress. Id. at 929. The trial court ruled that the wife had failed to state any grounds for which the decree could be set aside under Rule 60(b). Id. at 930. Wife then moved the trial court to modify the decree and to allow further discovery. Id. These motions were denied as well. Id.

Wife then appealed the trial court's denial of her motion to set aside the judgment. Id. Wife alleged that husband had committed fraud on the court and on her in representing his net worth as \$200,000 in April of 1978. Id. To support the allegations of fraud, Wife relied on husband's loan application filed in May of 1978 where he claimed his net worth was \$1,154,690.10. Id. The final findings and decree were entered on June 22, 1978. Id. at 929.

The Utah Supreme Court reversed the trial court's denial of wife's motion to set aside judgment because "[a]lthough the trial court displayed great patience in dealing with this case, we cannot avoid the conclusion, on the basis of the contentions before this Court, that **an injustice may have been perpetrated** by defendant's actions. **Accordingly, we are compelled** to the conclusion that the trial judge abused his discretion in not allowing plaintiff a hearing under Rule 60(b)." Id. at 931-32 (emphasis added). It is clear from this language that, where allegations in a Rule 60(b) motion are raised which **may** constitute an injustice, the trial court must at least hold a hearing on these issues.

In the present case, the Wife moved the court to set aside the decree because the decree and findings signed by the court, and drafted by the Husband, were drastically different from the Ruling entered by the trial court. It is very clear from the Ruling that the trial court's intent was to award nearly equal shares of the marital estate to each party.

In the Ruling, the trial court awarded the Husband the closely held business, valued at \$195,735, and a camp trailer valued at \$2,000. Therefore the Husband received \$197,735 from the marital estate. The Ruling awarded the Wife the marital residence and property, the farm equipment, piano, time share condo interest, and an all terrain vehicle, all valued at

\$176,000, and the net difference in the IRA Accounts, \$14,176 plus \$5,000 for the purchase of a reasonable automobile. This totals \$195,176, or \$2,559 less than what was awarded to the Husband.

Wife, as requested by the trial court, submitted findings and a decree which mirrored the court's Ruling in this regard. Husband objected and submitted his own findings and decree which completely modified the valuation of the business. Specifically, where the Ruling plainly states that "[t]he Court, based upon a totality of the evidence, from an examination of the exhibits adduced and from the record determines that the value of the business is \$195,735 and makes the following findings to support that conclusion" The trial court then went on to enter the findings to support this valuation, and specifically found that the value of the business should be offset by \$55,565 for the liens payable to Zion's First National Bank. The findings submitted by the Husband, and not reviewed at any hearing, materially changed the trial court's Ruling.

The findings submitted by Husband state that "[b]ased on the evidence received by the Court, the Court determines the value of that business to be \$177,562.05." This figure is \$18,172.95 less than the figure which the trial court determined to be the value of the business.

The Ruling states, in item 4, that "[t]he net difference in

the IRA Accounts, \$14,176 plus \$5,000 which is the value of a reasonable automobile, are awarded to the [Wife] in addition." Again, the findings and decree grossly modify this Ruling of the trial court without a hearing on the issues. The decree submitted by Husband states that the Wife "is awarded her IRA and \$7,088.00 of the [Husband's] IRA accounts to equalize those accounts." This diminishes the amount that the trial court determined in its Ruling that the Wife should be awarded from the Husband's IRA by \$7,088.²

In addition, the trial court clearly stated in its Ruling that the Husband "will be ordered to maintain medical insurance for the benefit of the children and the parties are ordered to share any medical expense not covered by insurance, 50/50." This Ruling of the trial court was also modified by the Husband in the Decree which states that:

The [Husband] is responsible to obtain and maintain medical insurance for the minor children as long as it can be acquired at a reasonable cost. Each party is ordered to pay equally the out-of-pocket costs for the premium actually incurred by the parent for the children's portion of the insurance. Each party is further ordered to pay equally all reasonable and necessary uninsured medical expenses, including deductibles and copayments incurred for the minor children, actually paid.

Therefore, where the trial court clearly ruled that the Husband was to maintain insurance for the children and the parties would

² Please note that the \$5,000 figure for a reasonable car was retained from the Ruling in the Decree.

equally split the uninsured medical costs, the Husband's Decree modified this, without a hearing, to require the Wife to pay an equal share of premium costs in addition to the equal share of the uninsured expenses, and modified the Ruling to only require the Husband to maintain insurance for the children "as long as it can be acquired at a reasonable cost."

The aforementioned reductions of the award to Wife made in the trial court's Ruling as compared to the decree and findings submitted by Husband greatly prejudice the Wife. This prejudice is even more apparent when considered in light that even where the business was valued at \$195,735 as the trial court did in its Ruling, this figure is much smaller than the calculation made by James Drollinger,³ Wife's CPA expert witness, or the figure which Husband used in his certified personal financial statement which was completed on November 24, 1997. This financial statement was admitted as Respondent's Exhibit 6 at trial, and is attached hereto as Addendum K.

In this statement, Husband represented, warranted and certified that his net worth was \$485,527. Of this amount, the house and real property was valued at \$185,000. This

³ \$279,262 net value.

leaves approximately \$300,000 of net worth not including the house or property awarded to the Wife. The statement clearly states that Husband valued his equipment, welder, tools, gravel and other inventory and the camp trailer awarded to him at \$247,000.

Wife clearly raised these mistakes, surprises, inadvertencies, excusable neglect or possible fraud on the trial court in her *pro se* motion to set aside the judgment. In addition, the issues raised in the *pro se* motion certainly allege an adequate "reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment" under Rule 60(b). No hearing was held on Wife's *pro se* motion. The trial court denied her motion because: (1) the issues raised in the motion had all been previously heard by the trial court; (2) the court had heard substantial evidence regarding the value of the business; (3) the Wife had the chance to include evidence on any assets at trial; and for the reasons raised in Husband's Memorandum in Opposition to Motion for Relief from Judgment. (Order, R. 234). The reasons to deny Wife's motion raised in Husband's memorandum were because: (1) the motion failed to set forth the requisite grounds to set aside a judgment; (2) the issues raised in the motion were addressed when the parties submitted their respective findings and decree; (3) the parties stipulated at the Order to Show Cause

hearing that they had resolved the remaining issues before the trial court; (4) the trial court's decision is accurate and should not be set aside. (R. 220)

As many of these issues are intertwined some are addressed together. First, the issues raised in Wife's *pro se* motion had not been addressed by the trial court since the trial and the court's Ruling. The Ruling used clear and precise language and reasoning in valuing the marital estate and dividing it nearly equally. The arbitrary modification of this division was never addressed or argued. Wife, as requested, submitted the findings and a decree which mirrored the Ruling of the court. Husband, while not objecting or responding to the trial court's Ruling, objected to Wife's findings and decree. Husband then submitted his own findings and decree which substantially altered the court's Ruling. Wife filed a *pro se* Response on August 12, 1998. (R. 141). No hearing was held on the issues raised in the Wife's proposed findings and decree, or Husband's objection or in the *pro se* response filed by the Wife.

Second, it is undisputed that the trial court heard substantial testimony and received evidence as to the

valuation of the business. After hearing all of this testimony and considering all of the evidence, the trial court entered it's Ruling which unequivocally values the business at \$195,735. No further testimony was given. No further evidence was admitted. However, the value of the business was modified by the findings submitted by the Husband to \$177,562.05. Certainly at least a hearing should be held to determine why the carefully calculated and supported value of the business as clearly stated in the trial court's Ruling was modified by nearly \$20,000 by the findings submitted by Husband.

Third, as to the modifications in the valuation of the business, the IRA award and the change in the payment of the premium for the children, the issue of evidence which should have been submitted at trial is irrelevant. Sufficient evidence was submitted at trial to support the trial court's Ruling and the award made by the trial court in its Ruling, while the issues and evidence was fresh, should not be arbitrarily modified without a hearing as to why the modifications should be made.

Fourth, as stated above, Wife's *pro se* motion clearly raises adequate grounds to set aside the judgment. Without

some record to determine why the trial court's Ruling was modified so drastically in the findings and decree, certainly the issues of mistake, inadvertence, excusable neglect, or surprise are raised. In addition, in light of the substantial discounted valuation, and the substantial prejudice to Wife caused by this valuation, entered by the trial court in its Ruling (and even more so in the Findings) as compared to the valuation done by Mr. Drollinger, or as certified by Husband in his financial statement, Wife's motion alleges an adequate reason justifying relief from the operation of the decree which would further prejudice her.

Fifth, the parties did not stipulate to any of these issues at the Order to Show Cause hearing. The order to show cause only dealt with the issues raised therein.⁴ The only issues that the parties stipulated to resolve were the issues "raised in [Husband's] Order to Show Cause and [Wife's] Counterclaim" (R. 178). The modifications made to the Ruling by the decree and findings were not stipulated to, included in any order, or addressed at the hearing. (Transcript of

⁴ Medical cost reimbursement, time share maintenance costs, timing of the payments due from Husband for the automobile replacement and attorney's fees award, removal of personal property, and the waiver and release of the other claims "raised in [Husband's] Order to Show Cause and [Wife's] Counterclaim" (R. 178).

Hearing on Order to Show Cause, R. 320).

The final reason for the denial of Wife's *pro se* was that "the trial court's decision is accurate and should not be set aside." The trial court's Ruling valued the business at \$195,735. The findings entered by the court valued the business at \$177,562.05. The Ruling clearly awarded Wife \$14,176 from Husband's IRA. The decree awarded Wife only \$7,088 from Husband's IRA. Without any record as to why these modifications were made and no opportunity to have a hearing on the changes, it is not clear which decision by the trial court is accurate.

The Utah Supreme Court clearly held that where the evidence supports allegations that an injustice may have occurred at the trial level "we are compelled to the conclusion that the trial judge abused his discretion in not allowing [the movant] a hearing under Rule 60(b)." Boyce, at 931-32. In addition, "[d]iscretion must be exercised in furtherance of justice and the court will incline toward granting relief in a doubtful case to the end that the party may have a hearing." Id. At 931 (quoting Warren, 260 P.2d at 743 (citation omitted)). In the present case, the changes from the trial court's well-reasoned and supported Ruling to the findings and decree can only be explained by mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable

neglect. These changes substantially prejudiced Wife and created an unjust and unfair result requiring that the decree be set aside.