1999

# Wesley John Harlan v. Bonnie Kathleen Harlan : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

There is no mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect. The court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Bonnie's motion raising the same issues that the court had ruled on some three months earlier.

Bonnie's Rule 60(b) motion was without merit and the court acted properly when it awarded John his legal fees. John should also be awarded his legal fees incurred on appeal.

#### **ARGUMENT**

**I. BONNIE FAILS TO MARSHAL THE FACTS THAT SUPPORT THE COURT'S RULING DENYING THE RULE 60(B) MOTION AND IN FACT BONNIE, WHILE ALLEGING SURPRISE, FAILS TO INFORM THE COURT OF THE REASONS THE COURT'S FINDINGS OF FACT DIFFER FROM THE RULING AND THAT SHE AGREED THAT THE COURT ERRED IN THE DEBT CALCULATION IN THE RULING.**

Bonnie claims the court abused its discretion when it denied her Rule 60(b) motion. On appeal the general requirement is that one must marshal the facts in the record that support the court's ruling and then show the court abused its discretion. Bonnie failed to marshal the facts and failed to inform this Court of the reasons for the differences between the court's Ruling and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law. She also failed to inform this Court of her objection's to the court's Ruling where she agreed that

there were errors in the addition and debt calculations in the Ruling and where she argued the same issues she now argues on appeal.

**II. THE COURT MADE TWO ERRORS IN ITS INITIAL RULING IN THE CALCULATION OF THE VALUE OF THE ASSETS AWARDED TO JOHN. THE COURT MADE AN ADDITION ERROR AND USED THE WRONG AMOUNT OF DEBT ON THE CONSTRUCTION BUSINESS. THOSE ERRORS WERE CORRECTED IN THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND RESULTED IN A DIFFERENT DIVISION OF THE RETIREMENT BENEFITS THAN THAT SET FORTH IN THE INITIAL RULING.**

Rule 60(b) sets forth specific reasons for which a motion for relief from judgment may be granted. A Rule 60(b) motion requires the moving party to identify the reasons relied on and to prove those reasons. Kettner v. Snow, 375 P.2d 28,30 (Ut. 1962); Larsen v. Collina, 684 P.2d 52,54 (Ut. Ct. App. 1984). A Rule 60(b) motion should not be granted when it will work an injustice on the opposing party. Chrysler v. Chrysler, 303 P.2d 995 (Ut. 1956), and Boyce v Boyce 609 P.2d 928, 931 (Ut. Ct. App. 1980). Bonnie's Rule 60(b) motion cited none of the reasons required by Rule 60(b) and did not prove or even allege any of the required reasons. Rather her motion was a re-hash of the argument she had made when she objected to the trial court's Ruling. Bonnie also did not file her Rule 60(b) motion until after the assets were divided, the monies borrowed by John and paid as ordered and after she was in the process of selling the farm.

Bonnie's brief now claims that the grounds for her motion

are mistake, inadvertence, surprise or excusable neglect. See Petitioner's Brief at Page 9. Bonnie argues in her brief that the mistake, inadvertence, surprise, or excusable neglect is based on the following: 1) the changing of the amount awarded to John in the Ruling from \$197,735.00 to \$179,562.00 in the Findings of Fact; 2) the Decree requiring Bonnie to pay one half of the medical insurance premiums for the children's insurance; and 3) the division of the retirement benefits in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree which was different than in the court's Ruling.

Bonnie ignores her fundamental obligation to marshal the facts that support the court's Ruling by failing to inform the court why there are differences between the Ruling and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree. Bonnie fails to inform the Court that these same issues were raised by both parties when they filed objections to the Ruling and the proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law submitted by both parties. Bonnie also fails to inform the Court that she and her accountant agreed that the debt amount in the Ruling was not correct. She further fails to inform the Court that using the correct debt amount was the reason for the difference in the value placed on the business in the Ruling and that found in the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the reason for the change in the division of the

IRA accounts. Finally, she fails to inform the Court that the law requires each party to pay one-half of the children's insurance premiums.

**A. Valuation Error**

The trial court in valuing the construction company in its Ruling used \$55,565.00 as the amount of debt. The correct amount of debt was \$74,737.00. Exhibit 4. Although Bonnie feigns surprise in her brief and claims not to understand how the Court reached different values in the Ruling and the Findings of Fact and Decree, it is not reasonably disputed that the mistake as to the amount of the debt is the difference in the value of the assets awarded to John as set forth in the Ruling and the value in the Findings of Fact coupled with an addition error in the Ruling. The court intended to equalize the assets awarded to parties. As a result of the approximately \$20,000.00 change based on the correct debt amount, the court adjusted the distribution of the retirement accounts. These issues were presented to the court when the court signed its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on August 19, 1998.

**B. Insurance Premium.**

The initial Ruling required John to maintain medical insurance for the benefit of the children with each party to pay equally any medical expense not covered by insurance. The

decree signed by the court, consistent with Utah Code Ann. §78-45-7.15 provides that John was to obtain and maintain medical insurance with each party to pay equally all out of pocket costs for the premium and one half of all other uninsured medical expenses. Addendum 6 paragraph 8. Bonnie claims that this language in the findings and decree was a surprise, inadvertence or mistake. Appellant's brief pages 14-15. She fails to inform the Court that the provisions in the Decree are made to comply with the requirements of Utah Code Ann. §78-45-7.15 and merely fleshed out the summary statement in the court's Ruling. As to the premium, Utah Code Ann. §78-45-7.15(3) states "[t]he order shall require each party to share equally the out-of-pocket costs to the premium actually paid by a parent for the children's portion of insurance" (emphasis added). To have ignored the statutory requirements and done as Bonnie argues would have been reversible error.

**C. Division of Retirement Benefits.**

Bonnie, while claiming surprise about how the division of retirement benefits in the Decree differed from the Ruling, again fails to inform the Court that the difference was a result of the court correcting the debt owed on the business. The court stated it intended to equalize the amounts awarded to each party. As a result, the Ruling gave Bonnie a larger

share of the IRAs. When the correct debt amount was included then the farm, house and other items awarded to Bonnie had almost the same value as the construction business and assets awarded to John. The court, therefore, had no reason to make an adjustment of the retirement account and divided the retirement benefits equally. See Conclusions of Law 3 and 4.

**D. Bonnie's Reliance on Boyce v. Boyce is Misplaced.**

Bonnie's reliance on Boyce v. Boyce supra is misplaced. There the court stated that the trial court abused its discretion by not granting a Rule 60(b) motion when the moving party had proven fraud in the obtaining of the decree. Boyce is factually significantly different from this case. In Boyce the parties had stipulated to the terms of the divorce. Thereafter, it became apparent that the defendant had misrepresented and not disclosed the value of the assets of the family prior to the stipulation and the decree and that the plaintiff had relied on the false information provided by the defendant. Thus, in Boyce the moving party made a showing of fraud, which under Rule 60(b) is one of the reasons recognized for reopening the case.

In this case, there are no issues of fraud. To the contrary, the issue as to value of the business and other assets was fully explored and litigated. In fact two CPAs and a certified appraiser were called and an appraisal of the

construction equipment and the farm and home were received as stipulated exhibits. The Court made a decision based on the evidence. Bonnie had the opportunity and did present her position to the trial court. There is no fraud claimed in this case and there was no surprise, mistake inadvertence or excusable neglect.

**III. JOHN WAS AWARDED HIS FEES INCURRED IN DEFENDING AGAINST THE RULE 60(b) MOTION BY THE TRIAL COURT BECAUSE THE MOTION WAS WITHOUT MERIT. THIS APPEAL IS WITHOUT MERIT AND IS FRIVOLOUS. JOHN SHOULD BE AWARDED HIS FEES INCURRED BOTH BECAUSE HE WAS AWARDED FEES BY THE TRIAL COURT AND PURSUANT TO RULE 33 OF THE RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE.**

The general rule is that when a party is awarded legal fees at the trial court and prevails on appeal that party is entitled to be awarded the fees incurred on appeal. Childs v Childs 967 P.2d 942, 947 (Ut. Ct. App. 1998). John was awarded the fees he incurred opposing the Rule 60(b) motion by the trial court. The court found that the motion was without merit. R. 234, Addendum 7 and 8. This Court should remand this case to the trial court with instructions to award John the fees and costs he has incurred on appeal.

Rule 33 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure also provides that this Court may award fees and costs if the appeal is frivolous. A frivolous appeal is one "not grounded in fact, not warranted by existing law, or not based on a good faith argument to extend, modify, or reverse existing law." Rule 33(b); Pennington v Allstate Ins. Co. 1998 WL 842273 (Ut. 1998) and Debry v Cascade Enterprises 935 P.2d 499 (Ut. 1997)

(awarding fees under Rule 33 when the appellant had not been forthright and had attempted to manufacture appealable issues).

Bonnie's Rule 60(b) motion was a rehash of her objections to the court's Ruling. The motion relied on none of the reasons required by Rule 60(b) U.R.C.P. The appeal again reargues the same issues and while claiming surprise, inadvertence or excusable neglect fails to inform this Court of the reasons for the differences between the amount awarded to each party in the Ruling and the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and the Decree, fails to inform this Court of the objection by Bonnie to the court's Ruling that addressed these issues, and fails to even attach as an addendum both parties' objections to the Ruling. It is not in good faith to feign surprise while hiding the facts rather than marshaling the facts.